

INDICATORS OF NEWS MEDIA TRUST

A GALLUP/KNIGHT FOUNDATION SURVEY



COPYRIGHT STANDARDS

This document contains proprietary research, copyrighted and trademarked materials of Gallup, Inc. Accordingly, international and domestic laws and penalties guaranteeing patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection safeguard the ideas, concepts and recommendations related within this document.

The materials contained in this document and/or the document itself may be downloaded and/or copied provided that all copies retain the copyright, trademark and any other proprietary notices contained on the materials and/or document. No changes may be made to this document without the express written permission of Gallup, Inc.

Any reference whatsoever to this document, in whole or in part, on any web page must provide a link back to the original document in its entirety. Except as expressly provided herein, the transmission of this material shall not be construed to grant a license of any type under any patents, copyright or trademarks owned or controlled by Gallup, Inc.

Copyright © 2018 Gallup, Inc. All rights reserved. Gallup^{*} and Gallup Panel[™] are trademarks of Gallup, Inc. All other trademarks and copyrights are property of their respective owners.

INDICATORS OF NEWS MEDIA TRUST

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Introduction
- **3** Detailed Findings
 - Americans Are Losing Trust in the News Media But Believe
 It Can Be Restored
 - 7 Issues of Accuracy, Bias Key to Americans' Distrust and Trust
 - **13** Transparency Joins Accuracy and Bias at Top of List of Importance Ratings for Trust
 - **17** Experimental Data Confirm Importance of Accuracy, Bias and Transparency, but Show Influence of Partisanship
- 22 Conclusion
- 24 Methodology
- 25 Appendix: Conjoint Analysis
- **29** About the John S. and James L. Knight Foundation
- **30** About the Ford Foundation
- **31** About the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
- **32** About the Open Society Foundations
- 33 About Gallup

INTRODUCTION

The news media, like many other major U.S. institutions, has suffered from a decline in public confidence in recent years.¹ A key question for the future of the news media, as well as for U.S. democracy, is whether that trust is lost for good. In this report, part of the John S. and James L. Knight Foundation's Trust, Media and Democracy initiative, Gallup asked a representative sample of U.S. adults to discuss key factors that make them trust, or not trust, news media organizations.

The report relies on a variety of research approaches — open-ended questions, closedended importance ratings and an experiment — and finds:

- Most U.S. adults, including more than nine in 10 Republicans, say they personally have lost trust in the news media in recent years. At the same time, 69% of those who have lost trust say that trust can be restored.
- Asked to describe in their own words why they trust or do not trust certain news
 organizations, Americans' responses largely center on matters of accuracy or bias.
 Relatively few mentioned a news organization's partisan or ideological leaning as a factor.
- Accuracy and bias also rank among the most important factors when respondents rate how important each of 35 potential indicators of media trust are to them. Transparency also emerges as an important factor in the closed-ended ratings of factors that influence trust: 71% say a commitment to transparency is very important, and similar percentages say the same about an organization providing fact-checking resources and providing links to research and facts that back up its reporting.
- An experimental approach not only showed the importance of accuracy, bias and transparency, but also revealed a complex relationship between partisanship and media trust. Both Republicans and Democrats were less likely to trust news sources with a partisan reputation that opposes their own. However, they did not express much greater trust in news sources that have a reputation for a partisan leaning consistent with their own.

¹ https://news.gallup.com/poll/236243/military-small-business-police-stir-confidence.aspx

These results indicate that attempts to restore trust in the media among most Americans may be fruitful, particularly if those efforts are aimed at improving accuracy, enhancing transparency and reducing bias. The results also indicate that reputations for partisan leaning are a crucial driver of media *distrust*, and one that may matter more for people themselves than they realize.

Gallup and Knight Foundation acknowledge support for this research from the Ford Foundation, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the Open Society Foundations.

REPUBLICANS AND DEMOCRATS WERE MUCH LESS LIKELY TO VIEW A NEWS SOURCE AS TRUSTWORTHY IF THEY WERE TOLD IT HAD A REPUTATION FOR A PARTISAN LEANING INCONSISTENT WITH THEIR OWN. BUT PARTISANS DID NOT VIEW A NEWS ORGANIZATION WITH A PARTISAN LEANING THAT MATCHED THEIR OWN AS SUBSTANTIALLY MORE TRUSTWORTHY.

DETAILED FINDINGS

AMERICANS ARE LOSING TRUST IN THE NEWS MEDIA BUT BELIEVE IT CAN BE RESTORED

Gallup has documented an erosion of trust in the news media over time. Between 2003 and 2016, the percentage of Americans who said they have a great deal or a fair amount of trust in the media fell from 54% to 32% before recovering somewhat to 41% in 2017 as trust among Democrats rebounded.²

Consistent with the trend toward declining trust, 69% of U.S. adults in the current survey say their trust in the news media has decreased in the past decade. Just 4% say their trust has increased, while 26% indicate their trust has not changed.

Republicans (94%) and political conservatives (95%) are nearly unanimous in saying their trust in the media has decreased in the past decade. However, declining trust is not just confined to the political right — 75% of independents and 66% of moderates indicate they are less trusting than they were 10 years ago.

U.S. adults on the left of the political spectrum are less likely to say they have lost trust in the media, but at least four in 10 Democrats (42%) and liberals (46%) say they have done so. Democrats and liberals are about as likely to say their trust in the media has not changed as to say it has decreased.

² https://news.gallup.com/poll/219824/democrats-confidence-mass-media-rises-sharply-2016.aspx

Reported Change in News Media Trust Over Past Decade

In the past 10 years, has your trust in the news media —



MORE THAN NINE IN 10 REPUBLICANS AND CONSERVATIVES SAY THEIR TRUST IN THE NEWS MEDIA HAS DECREASED IN THE PAST 10 YEARS. Other subgroup differences in reports of decreased trust in the media largely reflect those groups' political leanings. More men (76%) than women (64%), more whites (72%) than nonwhites (63%) and more noncollege graduates (73%) than college graduates (61%) say they have less trust in the media than they did a decade ago. There are, however, no meaningful age differences.

Attention to the news is also related to reports of declining trust. Eighty-two percent of those who indicate they pay little or no attention to national news say they have less trust in the media now, compared with 74% who say they pay a moderate amount of attention and 62% who say they pay a great deal of attention.

While the loss of trust in the news media is concerning in a democratic society, a more encouraging sign is that most of those who have lost trust believe it can be regained. Specifically, 69% of U.S. adults who say they have lost trust in the news media over the past decade say their trust can be restored. But a rather substantial 30% of those who have lost trust — equivalent to 21% of all U.S. adults — say their trust in the media cannot be restored.

Majorities of all key subgroups say their decreased trust in the media can be restored. There is little difference by gender, age, education and race. However, Democrats and liberals who have lost trust in the media are more optimistic that their trust can be restored than are independents, moderates and especially Republicans and conservatives. While at least six in 10 Republicans and conservatives say their decreased trust in the media can be recovered, 39% and 36%, respectively, say it cannot. In other words, about one-third of those on the political right have lost faith in the media and expect that change to be permanent.

Belief That Decreased Trust in Media Can Be Restored, Among Those Who Have Lost Trust in News Media

Do you think the trust that you have lost in the news media can be restored, or not?



FEW TRUST ALL, BUT MOST TRUST SOME NEWS ORGANIZATIONS

Americans appear to differentiate the trustworthiness of news organizations — 67% say they trust only some news media organizations, but not others. Meanwhile, 1% say they trust all news media organizations, 17% say they trust most and 16% say they do not trust any. The question did not distinguish perceived partisanship of specific news sources; rather, it focused on news organizations in general.

The majority of Republicans (75%), independents (63%) and Democrats (64%) say they trust some news organizations, but not others. Where party groups differ most is in their tendency to trust most or no news media organizations. More than one-third of Democrats, 35%, say they trust all or most news organizations, compared with 13% of independents and 3% of Republicans. In contrast, 21% of Republicans and 25% of independents but just 2% of Democrats say they do not trust any news organizations.

Trust in News Organizations

Now, thinking broadly about all of the various news organizations you are familiar with, including newspapers, TV and cable news stations, news websites, radio news, and local, national and international news organizations. Which best describes you —



Nearly four in 10 U.S. adults who are inattentive to national news (39%) say they do not trust any news organizations. That compares with 17% of those who pay a moderate amount of attention to national news and 8% who are highly attentive. Although these data indicate a strong relationship between attention to news and trust in the news media, they cannot shed light on cause and effect. That is, are some people so distrustful of the media that they cannot bring themselves to follow the news, or are people who do not follow the news distrustful because they do not see the media in action?

DETAILED FINDINGS

ISSUES OF ACCURACY, BIAS KEY TO AMERICANS' DISTRUST AND TRUST

After assessing their current state of trust in the news media, the survey asked respondents to say, in their own words, why they trust — or do not trust — particular news organizations.

REASONS PEOPLE DISTRUST NEWS ORGANIZATIONS

When asked for reasons why they do not trust news organizations, Americans' top categories of answers largely focus on inaccuracy and bias. The most commonly expressed thoughts in response to the open-ended question were about inaccurate or misleading reporting, lies, alternative facts or fake news (45%) and biased, slanted or unfair reporting (42%).

Bias and inaccuracy are underlying themes in many of the other comments as well. Twentythree percent say that one-sided, unbalanced or incomplete reporting causes them to distrust news organizations. Sixteen percent say "news" grounded in opinions or emotions and 14% say politically or partisan-focused coverage causes them to lose trust in news organizations.

Less common were responses that gave a clear direction of bias that troubled respondents. Seven percent mention a pro-liberal or anti-conservative bias specifically. Meanwhile, 5% say negative stories about President Donald Trump and 3% say news organizations that protect or support him cause them to lose trust.

In all, three-quarters of respondents mentioned bias-related reasons at least once in their comments as a reason they did not trust news organizations, and two-thirds mentioned accuracy-related reasons at least once.

Thinking now about some of the news media organizations you DO NOT trust, what are some of the reasons why you DO NOT trust those news organizations? [OPEN-ENDED]

Respondents could give multiple reasons. The figures are the percentage mentioning each reason in their responses. The percentages in the table total more than 100% due to multiple responses.

	MENTIONING
Comments About Inaccuracy	%
Inaccurate/Misleading reporting/Alternative facts/Lies/Fake news	45
Based on opinions/emotions	16
Lack of credibility/ethics/integrity/Poor track record	8
No fact-checking/Investigations	8
Dishonest/Fear of truth	4
Lack of reputable sources	3
Does not cite sources	2
Facts proven wrong/unimportant	2
No accountability/Does not correct errors	2
Comments About Bias	%
Biased/Slanted/Unfair reporting	42
One-sided/One point of view/Incomplete/Unbalanced/Not whole story	23
Politically focused/Tied to a particular party	14
Agenda-driven	10
Liberal/Anti-conservative	7
Angry presentation/Hate-based	7
Negative stories about President Trump	5
Propaganda	5
Financially motivated/For profit/Cater to rich and wealthy/Ratings-focused	4
Protects and supports President Trump	3

Thinking now about some of the news media organizations you DO NOT trust, what are some of the reasons why you DO NOT trust those news organizations? [OPEN-ENDED] *Cont'd.*

	MENTIONING
Comments on Other Topics	%
Sensationalism/Hype/Clickbait	10
Actual/serious news never reported	6
Always negative reporting	6
Ownership/Control	4
Don't like anchors	4
Same news all day/Lack of topics	3
Hypocrisy	2
Editorial style	2
Lack of trust	1
No logic/Nonsense	1
Lack of education/knowledge	1
Conspiracy theories	1
Inconsistency	1
Unprofessional	1
Government control/censorship	1
Other	8
No opinion	6

Republicans, Democrats and independents are about equally likely to bring up inaccuracy as a reason they distrust certain news organizations. Republicans (36%) are somewhat less likely than Democrats (43%) and independents (49%) to raise the bias issue in general terms, though 17% of Republicans, compared with 3% of independents and 1% of Democrats, more specifically mention liberal or anti-conservative bias.

Young adults (aged 18 to 34) are twice as likely as older adults (aged 55 and up) to say politically focused or partisan bias is a factor in their lack of trust in news media organizations, 18% to 9%, respectively. Young adults (47%) and middle-aged adults (47% of those aged 35 to 54) are also more likely than older adults (34%) to mention biased, slanted or unfair reporting more generally.

A little more than half of Americans who pay a great deal of attention to national news, 52%, cite inaccurate reporting or fake news as a reason for not trusting certain media organizations. That compares with 41% of those who pay a moderate amount of attention to national news and 35% who pay little or no attention to it.

REASONS PEOPLE TRUST NEWS ORGANIZATIONS

Matters of bias and accuracy are also the dominant themes discussed when people say why they trust certain news organizations. Thirty-nine percent mention fair, unbiased or nonpartisan reporting, with another 12% mentioning balanced reporting. Thirty-one percent mention accurate or factual reporting.

Commitment to journalistic ethics also figures prominently in Americans' responses. Thirty-one percent mention credible, honest, ethical or reputable reporting, and 18% cite good or professional journalism or reporting.

Very few respondents mention a specific direction of bias in reporting as fostering trust for them. This includes 3% who say conservative coverage, 1% who say liberal coverage, and 3% who say support or respect for the president, government, Constitution or country lead them to trust news organizations.

Nearly two-thirds of respondents mentioned accuracy-related reasons at least once in their comments as a reason they trust news organizations. About half mentioned (a lack of) bias at least once.

Thinking now about some of the news media organizations you trust, what are some of the reasons why you trust those news organizations? [OPEN-ENDED]

Respondents could give multiple reasons. The figures are the percentage mentioning each reason in their responses. The percentages in the table total more than 100% due to multiple responses.

	MENTIONING
Comments About Accuracy	%
Credible/Truthful/Honest/High integrity/Ethics/Reputable	31
Accurate/Factual	31
Good journalism/Reporting/Trusted/Professional	18
Fact-checking/Fact findings/Researched/Verifiable	16
Completeness/Details/Cites sources	12
Report news, not opinions	8
Reliable/Credible sources	7
Admits mistakes/Apologizes	4
Comments About Unbiasedness	%
Fair/unbiased/nonpartisan reporting	39
Balanced reporting/views	12
Broad topics/opinions/Multiple viewpoints	8
Neutral/Not politically driven/Objective/Moderate/Independent	8
Conservative	3
Similar views/beliefs as mine	2
Liberal	1

Thinking now about some of the news media organizations you trust, what are some of the reasons why you trust those news organizations? [OPEN-ENDED] *Cont'd.*

	MENTIONING
Comments on Other Topics	%
Been doing it a long time/Well-known/History	8
Current/Up-to-the-minute reporting/Breaking news	4
Reports on important issues	4
Local news/people	3
Support/Respect government, president, Constitution, country	3
Logical/Makes sense	2
Consistency	2
Knowledgeable/Educated	2
Publicly funded	1
Other	13
No opinion	6

Older adults and younger adults diverge in the extent to which they focus on sourcing and details as a way of gaining trust in news media outlets. Just 6% of those aged 55 and older say completeness, details and citing sources make them trust news organizations, compared with 17% of 18- to 34-year-olds and 15% of those aged 35 to 54. Similarly, 4% of older adults mention reliable or credible sources, compared with 11% of younger adults and 6% of middle-aged adults.

A news organization's history, longevity or reputation was not frequently cited as a key trust factor, but college graduates (14%) were much more likely than nongraduates (5%) to mention it.

Partisans also differ in the kinds of comments they offer when saying what leads them to trust news organizations. Thirty-nine percent of Republicans versus 28% of Democrats mention accurate and factual reporting, and 43% of Republicans compared with 33% of Democrats remark on a news organization having fair, unbiased or nonpartisan reporting. In contrast, at least twice as many Democrats as Republicans mention fact-checking, research and verifiable facts (25% to 9%), good or professional journalistic practices (24% to 12%), and history or longevity (11% to 3%).

While accuracy and bias are commonly mentioned when Americans indicate why they trust or do not trust particular news organizations, accuracy is mentioned more often than unbiasedness as a reason for trusting an organization, and bias is mentioned more often than inaccuracy as a reason for distrust. Specifically, 65% gave a response that touched on accuracy as a reason for trusting an organization, while 49% mentioned a lack of bias. When detailing reasons for not trusting organizations, 75% of respondents made a comment about bias, while 66% offered a response that dealt with inaccuracy.

Summary of Mentions of Accuracy and Bias in Open-Ended Comments About Trust and Distrust of News Organizations



The likelihood of mentioning bias- or accuracy-related reasons for trusting or not trusting news organizations is similar by subgroup. One notable difference is that Democrats (79%) are much more likely than Republicans (61%) or independents (55%) to bring up accuracy as a reason they trust certain news organizations. ACCURACY IS MENTIONED MORE OFTEN THAN UNBIASEDNESS AS A REASON FOR TRUSTING AN ORGANIZATION, AND BIAS IS MENTIONED MORE OFTEN THAN INACCURACY AS A REASON FOR DISTRUST.

DETAILED FINDINGS

TRANSPARENCY JOINS ACCURACY AND BIAS AT TOP OF LIST OF IMPORTANCE RATINGS FOR TRUST

In addition to getting Americans to describe in their own words why they trust or do not trust news organizations, the survey asked them to rate the importance of each of 35 different attributes that can engender trust in news organizations. As in the open-ended responses, accuracy and bias are important factors, but items that touch on transparency are also among the items that Americans rate most important.

The two highest-rated factors — both rated as very important by more than eight in 10 respondents — are a commitment to accuracy (89%) and quickly and openly correcting mistakes (86%). Seventy-seven percent say the organization's record of having published inaccurate or false information is very important, and 53% say the same about the frequency with which organizations make mistakes.

More than seven in 10 say a commitment to fairness (78%), providing fact-checking resources (74%), a commitment to transparency (71%) and providing links to research and facts to back up its reporting (71%) are very important factors for them in fostering trust.

Sixty-four percent rate a news organization clearly distinguishing news stories from commentary, analysis or advertiser-paid content as being very important to their trust in it.

A majority of Americans (58%) also say that news organizations being neutral is very important.

Some of the least important factors in promoting trust are the number of awards a news organization has won for reporting (4%), how large its circulation or viewership is (4%), whether it is a local (5%) or a national (8%) outlet, and how long the organization has been reporting the news (10%).

Although Americans' trust in the media³ and views of particular news organizations⁴ are strongly related to partisanship, Americans do not say that political considerations are important determinants to them in whether they trust particular news media outlets. Just 5% say it is very important that the organization's reporters share their political views, and 10% say the same about the outlet giving positive coverage to people, groups or issues with which they agree. Also, their trust is little influenced by cues or endorsements from others, including political leaders with whom they agree (8%), political leaders with whom they disagree (8%), and their family and friends (5%).

The specific content that a news organization covers is of midrange importance — 43% regard the types of issues a news outlet focuses its coverage on as being very important. Thirty-two percent assign the same degree of importance to whether reporters understand the challenges "people like me" face.

³ https://knightfoundation.org/reports/american-views-trust-media-and-democracy

⁴ https://knightfoundation.org/reports/perceived-accuracy-and-bias-in-the-news-media

How important are each of the following factors in determining whether or not you trust a news organization?

	VERY IMPORTANT	IMPORTANT	NOT IMPORTANT
	%	%	%
Its commitment to accuracy — not reporting stories before it verifies all the facts and being willing to correct mistakes it makes	89	9	1
Whether the organization corrects its errors or mistakes quickly and openly	86	11	1
Its commitment to fairness — whether it discusses all sides of an issue	78	17	4
The organization's record of having published inaccurate information or false information	77	20	1
Whether it provides fact-checking resources	74	21	3
Its commitment to transparency — it shares information about how it is funded, how it makes decisions on what it reports and does not report and where it gets the information for its stories	71	23	5
Whether it provides links to research and facts to back up its reporting	71	25	4
Whether the organization clearly labels commentary, content paid for by advertisers or news analysis so users can distinguish these from content that reports the news	64	27	8
It is neutral — it has no political slant in its coverage	58	31	9
How often the organization makes mistakes	53	42	4
The types of issues or stories it focuses its coverage on	43	49	8
You know and respect the brand of the news organization	37	47	14
Whether the news organization's reporters understand the challenges people like me face	32	47	20
The individual, group or company that owns the news organization	29	42	28
How much of its content is original reporting by its staff rather than using material from other sources (e.g., news wire services, reports from network correspondents)	26	54	19
Whether the news organization is based in the U.S. or a different country	22	32	44
The specific reporters, anchors or commentators who work for the organization	21	45	33

How important are each of the following factors in determining whether or not you trust a

news organization? Cont'd.

	VERY IMPORTANT	IMPORTANT	NOT IMPORTANT
	%	%	%
It provides commentary in the form of editorials, panel discussions, commentators or comment sections	19	45	34
Its news operations are funded through public funds and donations	16	32	50
The type of media it uses — newspaper, TV news, radio or website	16	33	50
The size of the news organization — whether it has a large team of reporters covering different "beats" (e.g., local, state, international, Washington, D.C.)	14	38	47
Its news operations are funded by selling advertisements	14	23	61
The reporting is accompanied by video of the news event	11	42	45
How many years the news organization has been reporting the news	10	38	51
The organization gives positive coverage to people, groups or issue positions I agree with	10	31	58
Whether the news organization is a national outlet	8	38	53
Whether political leaders you agree with trust the source	8	26	65
Whether political leaders you disagree with trust the source	8	23	68
Its news operations are funded through subscriptions	6	21	71
Whether the news organization is a local outlet	5	25	69
Whether friends or family members trust the source	5	22	72
The organization is critical of people, groups or issue positions I disagree with	5	26	68
Whether the news organization's reporters share my political views	5	21	73
How many awards the organization has won for news reporting	4	22	73
How many people read, watch or listen to the news organization's reporting (i.e., its ratings, circulation or web traffic)	4	27	67

Note: Percentages are based on the entire sample. The percentage who did not answer each item is not shown in the table.

There are not very large differences in ascribed importance of these characteristics by subgroups, especially for the attributes ranked near the top and bottom of the list. One of the bigger differences concerns neutrality — this resonates less with Democrats (44% say it is very important) than independents (64%) and Republicans (68%).

THE TWO HIGHEST-RATED FACTORS THAT CAN ENGENDER TRUST IN NEWS ORGANIZATIONS — BOTH RATED AS VERY IMPORTANT BY MORE THAN EIGHT IN 10 RESPONDENTS — **ARE A COMMITMENT TO ACCURACY AND QUICKLY AND OPENLY CORRECTING MISTAKES.**

Also, awareness and respect of the news organization's brand are more important to Democrats (49%) and Republicans (39%) than to independents (25%), as well as among more attentive (47%) than less attentive (27%) news consumers.

The location of the source — in the U.S. or a different country — seems to matter slightly more to adults 35 and older (26%) than to younger adults (12%), to noncollege graduates (25%) than to college graduates (15%), and to Republicans (33%) more than to Democrats (19%) and independents (17%).

Young adults (83%) see links to research and facts to back up reporting as more important to earning their trust than adults 35 and older (65%) do.

Older adults seem especially sensitive to news organizations' records of making mistakes — 62% of those aged 55 and older say it is a very important factor in their trust in news media organizations, compared with 48% of adults younger than 55.

DETAILED FINDINGS

EXPERIMENTAL DATA CONFIRM IMPORTANCE OF ACCURACY, BIAS AND TRANSPARENCY, BUT SHOW INFLUENCE OF PARTISANSHIP

A final way to assess the importance of various factors in determining media trust does not rely on direct self-reports from respondents. An experimental method known as conjoint analysis translates respondents' choices between two competing options — in this case, two hypothetical profiles of news organizations — into measures of importance. Based on the choices respondents make, the technique can estimate the relative importance of various aspects of a product or other object, as well as the specific characteristics within those aspects that are important. This method thus provides measures of importance that do not rely on respondent self-reports and can avoid the possibility that those reports are plausible or socially desirable but not reflective of the true factors that drive an individual's preferences or behaviors.⁵

To apply this method to news media trust, a separate sample of 1,322 Gallup Panel[™] respondents indicated which of two randomly generated hypothetical profiles of news organizations they consider more trustworthy.

The appendix gives the list of the nine trust attributes included in the conjoint task, and the features that were varied across those nine attributes in each profile. The profiles consisted of information conveying an organization's commitment to accuracy, unbiasedness and transparency — the top-rated factors in the importance ratings. The profiles also included information about the news organization from dimensions scoring lower on those same importance ratings, including ownership, awards, audience size and local versus national coverage.

Respondents were presented with two such profiles and were asked to say which they believe would be more trustworthy. Each respondent completed 10 separate choice tasks, evaluating a total of 20 different profiles across those tasks.

⁵ For more information on how conjoint analysis works, see the appendix or visit https://www.qualtrics.com/docs/ ConjointOverview.pdf.

The results of the conjoint analysis confirm the importance attached to core journalistic standards. On a relative basis, the accuracy factors — how quickly and openly an organization corrects mistakes and how carefully it evaluates facts before reporting — were the most important. About half of the variability in respondents' choices was explained by these two attributes. Transparency — in the forms of disclosing potential conflicts of interest and making additional reporting material available to readers — accounted for another combined 27% of respondents' decisions. The five remaining factors accounted for less than 25% of respondents' preferences in the choice tasks.

Relative Importance for Each Attribute in Choice of More Trustworthy News Source



In addition to capturing the relative importance of each attribute, the conjoint analysis offered insight into how much specific features or actions affect the likelihood that a respondent chooses one news organization profile as more trustworthy over another.

For example, regarding accurate reporting, the likelihood that an individual chose a news organization as more trustworthy than another dropped 19 percentage points if speed of reporting was prioritized over accuracy. Also, compared with news organizations that have a record of making quick and visible corrections to mistakes, respondents were 28 percentage points less likely to select a news source as being trustworthy if it rarely reports corrections to mistakes, 18 percentage points less likely if it occasionally does not make corrections and eight percentage points less likely if it makes corrections quickly but not in a highly visible manner.

For balanced and unbiased reporting, respondents viewed news organizations with a partisan reputation as less trustworthy than ones with an unclear or mixed partisan reputation; however, the effects were modest.

CORRECTING MISTAKES AND CAREFULLY EVALUATING FACTS BEFORE REPORTING WERE MOST IMPORTANT IN DETERMINING TRUST.

In terms of transparency, respondents were somewhat less likely to choose a news organization as more trustworthy if it usually (rather than always) acknowledged conflicts of interests, and substantially less likely to favor it if it generally does not acknowledge conflicts of interest about sponsors and owners in its reporting. Respondents were slightly more likely to select news organizations that make additional research not included in stories publicly available (such as full, unedited interviews) as more trustworthy than those that did not.

Change in Probability in Choice of More Trustworthy News Source, Compared With Baseline Category

Percentage point change in probability compared with baseline category. For example, there is a nine-point greater chance a respondent will choose a news organization as more trustworthy than another if it makes additional reporting material publicly available compared with not making such material publicly available.



All effects are significant at p<.01 according to a logistic regression model. See appendix for odds ratio estimates of each feature.

When the sample is broken down into partisan subgroups, the accuracy and transparency factors remained very important. However, a news organization's partisan reputation is more influential in the choices made by partisan respondents. In fact, among Republicans, the effects of a partisan reputation were second in relative importance behind quick and open corrections of mistakes. Partisan reputation ranks fourth among Democrats. The results among all respondents indicated partisan reputation was not very important, but that was mainly because it did not matter much to independents, and the larger effects of Republicans and Democrats may have canceled each other out in the aggregate.

FOR REPUBLICANS, PARTISAN REPUTATION WAS VERY IMPORTANT; FOR DEMOCRATS, FOR DEMOCRATS, OF MISTAKES, APPROACH TO REPORTING AND DISCLOSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST WERE TOP FACTORS.

Relative Importance for Each Attribute in Choice of More Trustworthy News Source, by Party Affiliation

% Attribute contributes to choice of news organization



Further analysis of the data reveals the complexity of the relationship between partisanship and trust in news organizations. There was a substantial decline in relative perceived trustworthiness for news organizations with a reputation for favoring partisan positions and policies that ran counter to the respondent's own political preferences.

Specifically, compared with a news organization having a mixed partisan reputation, Republican respondents were 22 percentage points less likely to choose one as being more trustworthy if it had a Democratic-leaning reputation. Democrats were 12 percentage points less likely to choose a news organization with a Republican reputation than one with a mixed or unclear partisan reputation.

Importantly, respondents were about equally likely to favor news organizations with a partisan reputation that aligned with their own as to favor those with a mixed or unclear reputation. In other words, partisans considered news organizations with a hostile agenda as much less trustworthy but did not view news organizations with a sympathetic agenda as more trustworthy.

Political independents were turned off about equally by news organizations with Democratic- or Republicanleaning reputations. They were six percentage points less likely to select a news organization as more trustworthy when it had a Democratic reputation and seven percentage points less likely when it had a Republican reputation, compared with a news organization having a mixed partisan reputation.

Change in Probability in Choice of More Trustworthy News Source, Compared With Baseline Category, by Party Affiliation

Percentage point change in probability compared with baseline category (baseline = mixed or unclear)



All effects are significant at p<.01 according to a logistic regression model, except for the Democratic score of 0 for favoring Democratic politicians and policies. See appendix for odds ratio estimates of each feature.

The importance of the partisan dimension in the conjoint analysis contrasts with the importance ratings. Relatively few Americans said political considerations were very important factors in their assessments of whether news organizations were trustworthy. These results may indicate that people are not aware of the degree to which partisanship colors their opinions of the news media. To the extent they are aware of this, they may want to give a "socially desirable" response in an opinion survey and indicate that political concerns do not affect their views of the news media.

The conjoint results also suggest that partisan reputations are an important shortcut or cue that Democrats and Republicans employ to sift through all the available information to form opinions about the trustworthiness of competing news organizations.

CONCLUSION

The Gallup/Knight Foundation report *American Views: Trust, Media and Democracy*⁶ indicates that Americans believe the news media play a critical role in U.S. democracy but think they are doing a poor job of fulfilling that role. This report reinforces that finding by showing that most Americans say they have lost trust in the news media in the past 10 years. However, Americans also say that their trust can be restored.

Americans give clear indications that their trust largely relies upon getting accurate, unbiased and even-handed news. Nevertheless, these normative factors are more philosophical in nature and provide less obvious direction for actions that news organizations can take to gain, or regain, public trust. Achieving these aims may require news organizations to rigorously adhere to journalistic norms, something most news outlets probably aspire to do but that may be more challenging to do in an era when staffs and resources have been slashed amid declining revenues.

A major challenge in fostering trust in the news media is that accuracy and unbiasedness are often in the eye of the beholder. Previous research in the Gallup/Knight Foundation partnership found that Democrats and Republicans mostly disagree as to which specific news organizations are accurate and unbiased.⁷

Still, Americans are unlikely to say that their trust in news organizations depends on political agreement, but the conjoint analysis suggests it may be more important than they say — especially for partisans when the direction of perceived bias runs counter to their own political leanings. The prominent effects of partisan reputations in the conjoint analysis among Republicans and Democrats indicate how much these reputations can influence media trust. If certain sources are branded by opinion leaders as "liberal" or "conservative," it could turn off large segments of the population to them and foster distrust in the news media more generally. An earlier experiment as part of the Gallup/Knight Foundation work⁸ confirmed how powerful such branding can be, as people's ratings of the same news item differed significantly when the news organization that reported the story was shown versus not shown.

⁶ https://knightfoundation.org/reports/american-views-trust-media-and-democracy

⁷ https://knightfoundation.org/reports/perceived-accuracy-and-bias-in-the-news-media

⁸ https://knightfoundation.org/reports/an-online-experimental-platform-to-assess-trust-in-the-media

Restoring trust in the news media may then require addressing and countering shared perceptions of bias and inaccuracy within partisan groups.

Beyond addressing bias and inaccuracy concerns, efforts to increase transparency could help increase trust in the news media. While transparency is not an idea that is top-of-mind for Americans when talking about trust in their own words, it is among the most highly rated factors when respondents rate the relative importance of a number of items that can influence trust in the media. The conjoint analysis provides more specific guidance in this area by indicating that people regarded organizations as more trustworthy if they faithfully disclose conflicts of interest and make additional reporting material available to readers and viewers. AMERICANS' TRUST LARGELY RELIES UPON GETTING GETTING ACCURATE, UNBIASED AND EVEN-HANDED NEWS.

METHODOLOGY

Results for the survey items are based on self-administered web surveys with a random sample of 1,218 U.S. adults, aged 18 and older, who are members of the Gallup Panel. Gallup uses probability-based, random sampling methods to recruit its panel members.

Interviewing took place between June 4 and 25, 2018.

The response rate among panel members sampled for this study is 37%.

Results for the conjoint analysis are based on self-administered web surveys with a random sample of 1,322 U.S. adults, aged 18 and older, who are members of the Gallup Panel. Gallup uses probability-based, random sampling methods to recruit its panel members.

Interviewing took place between June 26 and July 9, 2018.

The response rate among panel members sampled for this study is 25%.

Gallup weighted the obtained samples to correct for nonresponse. Nonresponse adjustments were made by adjusting the sample to match the national demographics of gender, age, race, Hispanic ethnicity, education and region. Demographic weighting targets were based on the 2015 Current Population Survey figures for the aged-18-and-older U.S. population. For results based on this sample of U.S. adults, the margin of sampling error is ±4 percentage points at the 95% confidence level. Margins of error for subgroups are higher.

All reported margins of sampling error include the computed design effects for weighting.

In addition to sampling error, question wording and practical difficulties in conducting surveys can introduce error or bias into the findings of public opinion polls.

The full questionnaire, topline results, detailed cross tabulations and raw data may be obtained upon request. For questions about how the survey was conducted, please contact galluphelp@gallup.com.

APPENDIX: CONJOINT ANALYSIS

Conjoint analysis is an approach that allows researchers to estimate the causal effect of several factors simultaneously. By having respondents select between or rate hypothetical profiles of some product, researchers can estimate the relative influence of each attribute on the resulting choice or rating.

In the current study, respondents chose between two hypothetical news organizations whose attributes and features were randomly generated. Information on nine attributes was shown for each news organization. Respondents indicated which of the two randomly generated news organization profiles they believed was more trustworthy.

ATTRIBUTES AND FEATURES USED IN THE CONJOINT ANALYSIS

Owner

- for-profit company that owns several media organizations
- an individual or family
- a private, nonprofit corporation

News Focus

- primarily covers news in your local area
- primarily covers national news
- primarily covers international news

Partisan Reputation

- many believe it favors Republican politicians and policies
- many believe it favors Democratic politicians and policies
- some believe it favors Republican politicians and policies, some believe it favors Democratic politicians and policies

Disclosing Conflicts of Interest

- always acknowledges when reporting news about its sponsors or owners
- usually acknowledges when reporting news about its sponsors or owners
- generally does not acknowledge when reporting news about its sponsors or owners

Approach to Reporting

- · carefully verifies facts before it reports on stories even if it is slower to report news than other organizations
- · checks facts but tries to be first to report even if it makes mistakes once in a while

Corrections of Mistakes

- quickly and visibly reports corrections
- quickly reports corrections but not in a highly visible way
- · has occasionally failed to report corrections
- rarely reports corrections

Research Not Included in Stories

- makes additional material publicly available (e.g., full, unedited interviews)
- does not make additional material publicly available (e.g., full, unedited interviews)

Awards

- has won many awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)
- has won a few awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)
- has won no awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)

Audience Size

- has high TV ratings, circulation or web traffic
- has midrange TV ratings, circulation or web traffic
- has low TV ratings, circulation or web traffic

EXAMPLE CONJOINT ANALYSIS TASK

[FOR FIRST CONJOINT TASK] For the next 10 questions, we're going to show you profiles of two news organizations. You'll see details about each organization, such as the focus of their news, how they correct mistakes, and the size of their audience.

Please carefully review the two news organization profiles detailed below. Then please answer the question below the profile to indicate which one you think would be more trustworthy.

[FOR SECOND THROUGH 10th CONJOINT TASKS] Please carefully review the two news organization profiles detailed below. Then please answer the question below the profile to indicate which one you think would be more trustworthy.

	NEWS ORGANIZATION A	NEWS ORGANIZATION B
Owner	An individual or family	For-profit company that owns several media organizations
News Focus	Primarily covers news in your local area	Primarily covers national news
Reputation	Many believe it favors Republican politicians and policies	Many believe it favors Democratic politicians and policies
Conflicts of Interest	Always acknowledges when reporting news about its sponsors or owners	Generally does not acknowledge when reporting news about its sponsors or owners
Approach to Reporting	Checks facts but tries to be first to report even if it makes mistakes once in a while	Carefully verifies facts before it reports on stories but slower to report news than other organizations
Corrections of Mistakes	Quickly reports but not in a highly visible way	Occasionally does not report
Research Not Included in Stories	Makes additional material publicly available (e.g., full, unedited interviews)	Does not make additional material publicly available (e.g., full, unedited interviews)
Awards	Has won many awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)	Has won no awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)
Audience Size	Has high TV ratings, circulation or web traffic	Has midrange TV ratings, circulation or web traffic

1. Which of these two news organizations do you think would be more trustworthy?

- 1. News Organization A
- 2. News Organization B

Change in Probability in Choice of More Trustworthy News Source, Compared With Baseline Category

Odds ratios as estimated through logistic regression model

ATTRIBUTES AND LEVELS	BY PARTY			
	Total	Dem	Ind	Rep
Corrections of Mistakes (Baseline = Quickly and visibly reports corrections)				
Quickly reports corrections but not in a highly visible way	.65*	.76*	.63*	.53*
Has occasionally failed to report corrections	.43*	.52*	.32*	.38*
Rarely reports corrections	.28*	.30*	.26*	.23*
Approach to Reporting (Baseline = Carefully verifies facts even if it is slo	wer to rep	ort news)		
Checks facts but tries to report first even if it makes an occasional mistake	.41*	.43*	.39*	36*
Conflicts of Interest (Baseline = Always acknowledges)				
Usually acknowledges	.69*	.66*	.76*	.64*
Generally does not acknowledge	.46*	.43*	.46*	.49*
Research Not Included in Stories (Baseline = Does not make additional m	naterial pub	olicly availab	le)	
Makes additional material publicly available	1.93*	1.90*	2.12*	1.86*
Reputation (Baseline = Mixed or unclear)				
Many believe it favors Democratic politicians or policies	.68*	1.00	.71*	.36*
Many believe it favors Republican politicians or policies	.73*	.55*	.67*	1.23*
Owner (Baseline = A private, nonprofit corporation)				
An individual or family	.79*	.67*	.75*	1.01
For-profit company that owns several media organizations	.72*	.66*	.63*	.92
Awards (Baseline = Has won no awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys))				
Has won a few awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)	1.24*	1.42*	1.06	1.23*
Has won many awards (e.g., Pulitzer Prizes or Emmys)	1.24*	1.29*	1.17	1.24*
Audience Size (Baseline = Has low TV ratings, circulation or web traffic)				
Has midrange TV ratings, circulation or web traffic	1.17*	1.02	1.35*	1.22*
Has high TV ratings, circulation or web traffic	1.16*	.96	1.28*	1.34*
News Focus (Baseline = Primarily covers international news)				
Primarily covers national news	1.11*	1.17*	1.06	1.11
Primarily covers news in your local area	1.11*	1.20*	1.01	1.16

Dependent variable: Likelihood respondent selects news organization profile that includes the feature as more trustworthy than another *Significant at p<.01

ABOUT THE JOHN S. AND JAMES L. KNIGHT FOUNDATION

The Knight Foundation is a national foundation with strong local roots. We invest in journalism, in the arts, and in the success of cities where brothers John S. and James L. Knight once published newspapers. Our goal is to foster informed and engaged communities, which we believe are essential for a healthy democracy.

For more information, visit www.knightfoundation.org.

ABOUT THE FORD FOUNDATION

The Ford Foundation is an independent, nonprofit grant-making organization. For more than 80 years it has worked with courageous people on the front lines of social change worldwide, guided by its mission to strengthen democratic values, reduce poverty and injustice, promote international cooperation, and advance human achievement. With headquarters in New York, the foundation has offices in Latin America, Africa, the Middle East and Asia. www.fordfoundation.org

ABOUT THE BILL & MELINDA GATES FOUNDATION

Guided by the belief that every life has equal value, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation works to help all people lead healthy, productive lives. In developing countries, it focuses on improving people's health and giving them the chance to lift themselves out of hunger and extreme poverty. In the United States, it seeks to ensure that all people — especially those with the fewest resources — have access to the opportunities they need to succeed in school and life. Based in Seattle, Washington, the foundation is led by CEO Sue Desmond-Hellmann and Cochair William H. Gates Sr., under the direction of Bill and Melinda Gates and Warren Buffett.

ABOUT THE OPEN SOCIETY FOUNDATIONS

The Open Society Foundations work to build vibrant and tolerant democracies whose governments are accountable and open to the participation of all people. In the United States, the Open Society Foundations aim to nurture the development of a society that allows all people to participate equitably in political, economic and cultural life; encourages diverse opinions and critical debate; protects human rights; and promotes broadly shared prosperity and security.

ABOUT GALLUP

Gallup delivers analytics and advice to help leaders and organizations solve their most pressing problems. Combining more than 80 years of experience with its global reach, Gallup knows more about the attitudes and behaviors of employees, customers, students and citizens than any other organization in the world.

For more information, visit www.gallup.com or education.gallup.com.



World Headquarters

The Gallup Building 901 F Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20004

t +1.877.242.5587 **f** +1.202.715.3045

www.gallup.com